RECEIVED

Nov 22 2021

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

Appellate Case No. 2020-000049

The Honorable Thomas Anthony Russo

The State of South Carolina.....Respondent,

v.

Royal Daniel Williams, III.....Appellant.

**AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Elizabeth Franklin-Best  
Elizabeth Franklin-Best, P.C.  
Bar No. 72555  
2725 Devine Street  
Columbia, South Carolina 29205  
elizabeth@franklinbestlaw.com  
(803) 445-1333

*Attorney for Appellant.*

*Other Counsel:*  
William M. Blitch, Jr.  
Office of the Attorney General  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court erred by denying appellant's motion for a directed verdict because the evidence adduced at trial did not rise above a mere suspicion that appellant was implicated in the victim's murder.
- II. Whether the trial court erred in not suppressing the fruits of the February 19, 2016 search warrant that allowed law enforcement to search through the phone records of Royal Williams when the original warrant was stale and law enforcement did not seek to receive an additional warrant before gathering the correct information from Sprint in violation of Mr. Williams's Fourth Amendment right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures?
- II. Whether the trial court erred when it allowed the State to obtain a buccal swab from Mr. Williams when the State lacked probable cause to believe that Mr. Williams murdered the victim?
- III. Whether the trial court erred when it granted a continuance to the State to allow it to remedy an evidentiary issue when Mr. Williams had been held in pre-trial detention for three years awaiting trial?
- IV. Whether the trial court erred in not dismissing Mr. Williams's case based on the State's violating Mr. Williams's right to a speedy trial?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Williams was indicted on one count of murder on April 6, 2017 by the Florence County grand jury. He was tried before the Honorable Thomas Russo and a jury between September 9-14, 2019. Mr. Williams was convicted and received a sentence of life in prison. Mr. Williams was represented by Thurmond Brooker. The State was represented by Ed Clements.

This appeal timely follows.

## RELEVANT FACTS

Royal Williams was convicted for the murder of Sherilyn Joseph, a young woman who lived with her son in an apartment duplex. The case against appellant was highly circumstantial with the state failing to produce any evidence that appellant killed the victim. Even taking all of the evidence in the light most favorable to the state as this Court must at this juncture, the evidence failed to prove beyond a mere suspicion that appellant was guilty of this crime. The trial court erred in submitting the case to the jury.

### Relevant Facts

The State offered evidence from law enforcement officials and two witnesses who observed a man in a taxicab who was picked up from the vicinity of the crime scene around the time the State alleges the victim died. Both the cell phone testimony and the DNA testimony offered by the State were highly contested, both on cross-examination and by appellant's own defense experts.

The State called Patricia Stewart, the victim's mother, as its first witness in this trial. Tr. 294. She testified her daughter, Sherilyn, worked at Starbucks and had a son. Tr. 194. Back on January 23, 2016, Stewart was taking care of her grandson while her daughter went to work. Tr. 195. She did not know what time her daughter was supposed to get off work. Tr. 195. Her son

had spent the night with Ms. Stewart. Tr. 196. On Saturday, January 23, 2016, her daughter did not call her. Tr. 197. Around 4:00pm Ms. Stewart tried to call her daughter but did not get an answer. She tried until 10:00pm but still received no answer. She decided to go to her daughter's apartment. Tr. 197.

Stewart picked up her sister and drove to her daughter's apartment. She saw her daughter's car in the driveway. Tr. 197. She went to the apartment and found the door unlocked. It was dark inside and when she got to the end of the hallway she felt something. She turned on a light and saw her daughter on the floor. Tr. 197.

Stewart's sister called 911. She tried to perform CPR. Tr. 198. She stayed until the sheriff's department officers came to the apartment. Tr. 198. She provided a statement to an officer. Tr. 199.

Stewart testified her daughter did not have any enemies, or any disputes, with anyone. Tr. 200.

The State then called Lt. Michael Brumbles, a Lieutenant over patrol for the Florence County Sheriff's Office. Tr. 203. He received the call from dispatch and responded to the scene. Tr. 205. He testified he did not observe anything in disarray in the apartment. Tr. 208. He did not see any signs of struggle. Tr. 209. On cross-examination, Brumbles admitted he had not been to the apartment before and was unable to testify whether or not anything inside the apartment was out of the ordinary. Tr. 212-13.

Thomas "Bo" Myers, the deputy coroner for Florence County testified. Tr. 214. He was called and responded to the scene around 11:38 that evening. Tr. 216. He noticed the body was fully clothed. She was wearing black. Her shoes were on, but one was "kind of knocked loose." Tr. 221, l. 7. He noticed a circular injury to the left side of her forehead that was consistent with

a gunshot injury. Tr. 221. Based on the location of the lividity in her body, the coroner believed the body had been moved although he did not see any signs of the body having been moved. Tr. 223. Myers also testified the victim appeared cold to the touch. Tr. 225. From that, he deduced she had been dead for "longer than a few hours." He was incapable of providing a better approximation. Tr. 225. Given her degree of rigor mortis, Myers concluded she had been dead for more than several hours and less than days. Tr. 227. Meyers testified that the presumed time of death was 4 o'clock in the afternoon. Tr. 252. He conceded on cross-examination that the time of death was not a precise calculation. Tr. 259. In his capacity as coroner, Myers scheduled an autopsy with the staff at MUSC. It was scheduled for January 25. Tr. 254. He received the final autopsy report on April 4. Tr. 255.

The State called Dr. Angelina Phillips, a forensic pathologist with the Medical University of South Carolina, to testify. Tr. 270. She was qualified without objection in the field of forensic pathology. Tr. 272. She testified the victim's cause of death was a gunshot wound to the head. Tr. 273. She could not determine whether the range was intermediate to distant. Tr. 274. There was a comforter at the scene with a hole in it. She did not find any evidence of defensive wounds. Tr. 275. She also did not find any evidence of recent sexual activity although she could not rule it out. Tr. 276. She identified the bullet as "medium-caliber" but did not make a specific identification. Tr. 277.

Sgt. Andrew Clendenin of the Florence County Sheriff's Office's crime scene unit also testified. Tr. 286. He arrived at the scene around midnight. Tr. 289. Law enforcement towed the victim's car back to the Florence County Sheriff's Office impound yard. Tr. 293. Clendenin took DNA swabs from the inside door handle and head rest of the car. Tr. 294. A number of photographs of the scene were introduced through his testimony. Tr. 296. He also obtained a

sample of the victim's blood at the autopsy and placed it into evidence. Tr. 298. It was sent to the Richland County Sheriff's Office forensic lab. Tr. 298.

At the victim's apartment Clendenin noticed a partially smoked cigar laying on an end table. He Also noticed a comforter, pillow, and pillowcase located near the victim and had a gunshot through it. Tr. 298. She was wearing a Starbucks uniform. Tr. 299. He was unable to successfully lift any fingerprints from her apartment. Tr. 299. In the master bedroom there was a wastebasket. In the wastebasket he found a used condom. Tr. 300. Reviewing the car, Clendenin noticed the passenger seat of the car was reclined. He swabbed for DNA on the inside of the passenger side door. Tr. 302. He also attempted to obtain DNA from the head rest on the reclined seat. Tr. 302. Clendenin noted he did not detect forced entry into the home and that the rear door was locked. Tr. 304. Both the condom and the condom wrapper were located in the wastebasket. Tr. 305. He took DNA samples from the inside of the passenger door handle. Tr. 306.

Law enforcement obtained samples from "several" other individuals and they were sent for additional testing. Tr. 310. He received a sample from appellant and sent it to the Richland County Sheriff's Office for testing. Tr. 312.

The next day Clendenin received a DVR system from Investigator Collins who captured surveillance near the victim's apartment. Tr. 313. Clendenin made a copy of the DVR and returned it to Collins. Tr. 314.

A gun believed to be connected with this case was sent to SLED for testing. There were fibers found on the gun inside the slide. They did not match anything. The bullet and the gun were not a match. Tr. 315.

Clendenin could not recall if the victim's mother found the door locked or unlocked. According to his report which he was presented with to refresh his memory, she claimed the door was unlocked when she arrived. Tr. 316.

No gun or shell casings were found at the crime scene. Tr. 317. Clendenin was unable to collect any fingerprints of evidentiary value. Tr. 318. He did not attempt to collect touch DNA from the front doorknob. Tr. 319. No items in the kitchen were processed. Tr. 323. DNA was extracted from the cigar. Tr. 326. Clendenin did not take an inventory of any other items in the trash can. Tr. 337. Clendenin obtained DNA from appellant on June 28, 2019 and February 26, 2019. Tr. 339.

Ashleigh Dixon of the Richland County Sheriff's Department testified. She is a serologist in the DNA laboratory. Tr. 384. She processed a number of items from the crime scene. Tr. 386. She did not conduct the DNA analysis. Tr. 388.

The State called its DNA analyst, John Barron. Tr. 407. Barron worked for the Richland County Sheriff's Department. Tr. 408. He was qualified as an expert without objection. Tr. 411. He testified the DNA on the cigar tip belonged to the victim. Tr. 414. The victim's DNA was also on the coffee cup. Tr. 414. The DNA on the headrest and door handle from the car was a mix of several people. Tr. 415. The victim's DNA was also on the condom. Tr. 416.

On Items 7 and 8—the headrest and door handle, there were multiple individuals identified. Tr. 422. On the headrest, it was 2,800 more likely appellant was in the mixture than any random person. Tr. 422. Regarding the door handle, the probability was that it was 120,000 more likely he was one of the individuals than a random person. Tr. 423. As for the condom, he was 12,500 more likely to be a source of the DNA than a random person. Tr. 423. Targeting the Y chromosome, Barron testified it that it was 1,850 more likely that appellant was the source of the

DNA. Tr. 423. Combining those two analyses, Barron testified it was 23,000,000 times more likely appellant was the contributor of the DNA in the condom than any random person. Tr. 424. Without objection, Barron testified “it’s pretty incriminating as far as I’m concerned as a scientist.” Tr. 424, ll. 17-18. As discussed later, this testimony was vigorously challenged by defense counsel’s expert witness. Two other male subjects’ DNA were analyzed by Barron, but he excluded them from the scene. Tr. 425. Over the previous objection based on the search warrant, the court allowed the DNA report into evidence. Tr. 426. There was no seminal fluid present on the condom. Tr. 430, 457.

The State called James Swinton, a dispatcher with Speedy Cab Company. Tr. 503. He sent a cab driver to an address in Florence at 3:40pm. Tr. 504, 504.

Linda Jones testified. Tr. 513. She is the cousin of Keya Bacote, the cab driver sent by Swinton to the location on Century Drive. Tr. 513. Bacote picked her up from work and then then took her on another call. Tr. 514. Jones was sitting in the second row of the van on the passenger side. Tr. 514. They arrived at an apartment duplex. Tr. 515. They picked up a male who sat beside her. Tr. 516. Later, she worked with law enforcement to create a sketch of the person she saw. Tr. 519. She created that sketch on February 5. Tr. 519. She thinks the male passenger sitting beside her may have had a hoodie on. Tr. 519. She testified she thinks he may have had a bookbag. Tr. 521.

Deborah Goff from SLED drew the sketch. Tr. 532. Ms. Jones rated the composite drawing an 8 based on the similarity of the sketch to the person she believes she saw. Tr. 534. She did not draw a hoodie in the sketch because Ms. Jones did not mention a hoodie during the two hours they worked on the sketch. Tr. 538.

Ms. Bacote has been a driver with Speedy Cab for 25 years. Tr. 540. The call for the cab came in around 4:00 to 4:05. Tr. 543. That information was not noted on the manifest. She testified based on her memory because she regularly picks up Linda Jones at that time. Tr. 544. Her passenger called her twice—once from a number with a 704 area code, and then from a 803 area code. Tr. 545. She said the man from the cab had “good wavy hair” in the front. Tr. 546. She saw travel items in his bag, like toothpaste and deodorant. Tr. 549. She told law enforcement she could not identify the person she picked up from any of the pictures they showed her. Tr. 552. She testified saw the same passenger two days later when he called for a cab. He had shaved his head. Tr. 552. She acknowledged she gave Chad Collins the following description of the person she picked up that day: “[H]e was about 5’9”, 5’10”, light-skinned, kind of good hair, pulled back in a ponytail, kind of built, and I know he had a back.” Tr. 557, ll. 10-13. At trial, she testified she “guessed on the ponytail.” Tr. 559, l. 2.

The State then called Lerron Whitten to testify. Tr. 569. He lives on Plum Street in Darlington. Tr. 571. Law enforcement came to his house investigating the murder. He showed them the gun he had. Tr. 573. Appellant left a bookbag at his house. Tr. 574. He had known appellant for 3 or 4 months prior to this. Tr. 576. Without objection, he testified appellant was “going to court or something.” Tr. 577, 578.

The State called Investigator Chad Collins of the Florence County Sheriff’s Office to testify. He arrived at the victim’s apartment at around 11:30pm to 12:00am. He and Investigator Thomas McFadden worked the case jointly. Tr. 627. He noted the victim was fully clothed. It appeared she had just come home from work. Tr. 635. Two days after the initial investigation at the crime scene, Collins received information that took him to a home on Springfield Road in Florence County. The owner had a camera system on his house. He was given permission to take

the system to the Sheriff's office and downloaded material from it. Tr. 641. The video revealed the victim's car turning into the duplex. It also showed a van. Tr. 648. The date stamp was January 23, 2016 at 4:59pm. Tr. 649. The state incorrectly elicited Collin's testimony that that was "around 4 o'clock." Tr. 649, ll. 9-10.

Collins then started talking to taxicab companies. Tr. 650. He reached out to a company in Darlington, Speedy's Cab and found out they sent the taxi on that date and to that place. Tr. 651. He and McFadden then went to Speedy Cab Company. Tr. 651. They also spoke with Ms. Bacote. Tr. 652. They also spoke with Linda Jones. Tr. 653. They enlisted the assistance of the forensic artist. Tr. 654. At some point, the investigation took them to Leron Whitten's house although it is not clear what particular evidentiary item led them there. Tr. 655. His home was searched and he provided a DNA sample. Tr. 656. Whitten's DNA was excluded from the small number of items processed by the Florence County Sheriff's Office. Tr. 656. Aaron Smith's DNA was also taken. Tr. 656. He too was excluded from the limited number of DNA samples law enforcement took from the victim's apartment.

Law enforcement realized Whitten and the appellant knew one another. Tr. 657. The officers' investigation took to Bennettsville, SC where appellant's grandmother lived. Tr. 657. Then they went to Darlington. Tr. 658. They also went to Darlington to where Chimyra Wright lived. She and appellant have a child together. Tr. 658. Collins was able to determine a Straight Talk phone was purchased by the victim in Laurinsburg, NC. Tr. 661.

Collins obtained search warrants for the victim's phone. Tr. 661. In analyzing the records, he testified he saw a number with some frequency. Tr. 663. He completed a search warrant with respect to that number and obtained the records. Tr. 664. The person connected with that number was appellant. Tr. 665. Contacts between the two began in January 14, 2016. Tr. 666. The last

contact was on January 22, 2016. During that time there had been 383 contacts. Tr. 666. Beyond January 22, 2016 there were no other contacts between the two. Tr. 667. According to Collins, her phone last pinged off a cell tower at 3:11. Tr. 668. Other people tried to reach her at 4:52. Tr. 668-69. Collins testified appellant's phone pinged in areas near the victim. Tr. 669. At 4:42 it pinged off a tower in Darlington. Tr. 670.

Collins testified he began to review the video around 2:00pm on the date of the victim's death since that is the time he knew she would be heading to work. Tr. 677. At 2:51, the car turned down Century Drive in the direction of Pine Needles Road. Tr. 677. The car returned at 3:53pm. Tr. 679. The taxicab arrived at 4:33pm. Tr. 679. Collins did not see anyone else pull up. Tr. 680.

The State conceded it was not a strong case during its closing argument. The Solicitor argued: I'm asking you to go back and vote your conscious (sic) please. If that means we're twisting things, please let that man go. But if you see it the way I see it, that is that law enforcement made a great investigation under not ideal circumstances, there wasn't a lot to go on to begin with but they developed the evidence and we're here today and we're asking you to grade our paper. Tr. 1163, ll. 8-14.

On cross-examination, Collins admitted he did not account for every vehicle that entered the area where the victim's duplex was located. He only accounted for the time frames in which he thought he might see something, given the victim's work schedule. Tr. 689. Collins did not obtain the victim's work records, so he did not know exactly when she left work. Tr. 690. He also admitted he could not tell from the video the color of the car he attributed as belonging to the victim. Tr. 692. He also could not see the license plate nor the people in the car. Tr. 692. Trial counsel pointed out during cross examination that if the victim did not return home until around 4

o'clock that afternoon, then the call for a cab pick up at that location would have occurred 13 minutes before the victim got home. Tr. 694.

Q: Based on the math what it means is that somebody called and said I need a pickup at Century Drive, Apartment A, 13 minutes before she arrived home; right?

A: yes. Base on—

Q: At least?

A: Based on the math, yes.

Tr. 694, ll. 8-18.

According to the cab company logs, they received a call at 3:40 to go to the Century Drive address to pick up a passenger. A review of appellant's phone records, entered into evidence, did not show appellant making a call to the company. Tr. 702- 705. Appellant's next outward bound call was at 4:42. Tr. 705. There is also no evidence in appellant's phone record that he received a call from the cab company trying to clarify where the apartment was located, as testified to by Bacote. Tr. 706.

It appeared appellant's phone pinging off a nearby cell tower occurred roughly an hour before the passenger left Century Drive in the cab. Tr. 708.

Collins also confirmed that Ms. Bacote did not inform him that she had a second encounter with the man from the apartment complex a week later. Tr. 711.

Bacote had testified that one of the numbers she received a call from was a North Carolina number with the area code 704. When law enforcement received the records, that number was traced to a Jessica Craig. Law enforcement did not undertake any efforts to speak with Ms. Craig, other than to call that number which came back as inactive. They did not even simply drive to Charlotte which is where the address was identified in the records. Tr. 715-18.

The person who requested the ride from the cab company also called back from a second number. Tr. 719. Law enforcement did not attempt to track down the person associated with that number either. Tr. 719-721.

The gun used in this case was never recovered. Tr. 730. The black bag that allegedly belonged to appellant was not at Leron Whitten's house when police initially searched it on February 1. Tr. 731. On February 22, when they went to Whitten's house a second time, they found the bag. Tr. 731. Jones, who actually observed the bag, never identified the bag at Whitten's house to be the bag she observed the man had in his possession when she picked him up from Century Drive. Tr. 732. Neither did Bacote. Tr. 733-34. There were no calls between the appellant and the victim on the date of her death. Tr. 741.

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