**RECEIVED**

**Jun 29 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Florence County  
Honorable Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2020-000049

---

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Royal Daniel Williams, III,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

E.L. (ED) CLEMENTS, III  
Solicitor, Twelfth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

##

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

Pichardo, 367 S.C. 84, 96, 623 S.E.2d 840, 846 (Ct. App. 2005)). “[A]ppellate courts must affirm if there is any evidence to support the trial court’s ruling.” Id.

### **Merits**

Appellant initially contends the 2016 search warrant was invalid so the cell phone records and site location data should have been suppressed. At the time the request was made, no case had indicated the information was protected by the Fourth Amendment, and as a result, a warrant was not needed for Appellant’s cell phone records and cell site location data. See United States v. Graham, 824 F.3d 421 (4th Cir. 2016) (finding individuals do not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in historical CSLI records and noting that other federal circuits agreed with the conclusion).

Additionally, as conceded by Appellant’s counsel, the information was not protected and was, instead, covered by the third-party doctrine, which allowed the information to be obtained without a warrant. Specifically, he noted:

Previously . . . up to Carpenter, it was the prevailing law, you know, that information that was retained by a third party that an individual had not expectation of privacy in that information and, therefore, the third-party rule applied. That if it wasn’t your information, you didn’t have an expectation of privacy, no warrant had to be obtained.

(T.90; R.358). The United States Supreme Court was in agreement with Appellant’s counsel:

This Court has held repeatedly that the Fourth Amendment does not prohibit the obtaining of information revealed to a third party and conveyed by him to Government authorities, even if the information is revealed on the assumption that it will be used only for a limited purpose and the confidence placed in the third party will not be betrayed.

United States v. Miller, 425 U.S. 435, 443 (1976). The holding was confirmed regarding the use of a phone and the information transmitted to a phone company in Smith v. Maryland, 442 U.S. 735, 744 (1979). As acknowledged by Appellant’s counsel, when the State sought to obtain the

records from Sprint, Appellant's expectation of privacy in those records had never been recognized and a warrant was not required in order to obtain them.

Even if the expectation of privacy existed, the State operated in good faith in regard to obtaining the information based on the case law which was available at the time they obtained the records. This Court recently addressed a similar situation in State v. Warner, 430 S.C. 76, 842 S.E.2d 361 (Ct. App. 2020). In Warner, the trial court found the warrant used to obtain phone records was invalid. However, the court denied suppression because of the third-party doctrine. This Court noted Carpenter v. United States, — U.S. —, 138 S. Ct. 2206 (2018), was decided after the suppression hearing. In particular, this Court cited Davis v. United States, 564 U.S. 229, 243–44, 131 S.Ct. 2419, 180 L.Ed.2d 285 (2011) (“[T]he retroactive application of a new rule of substantive Fourth Amendment law raises the question whether a suppression remedy applies; it does not answer that question.”), and applied the rule of Davis to determine whether suppression was warranted. Warner, 430 S.C. at 93, 842 S.E.2d at 369. This Court ultimately, and properly, concluded:

Although the officers exceeded the Fourth Amendment when they obtained Warner's cell phone records without a valid warrant, in light of Miller's validity at the time of the search, their conduct was not a deliberate or reckless transgression. Like the search in Davis, the search of Warner's records was not wrongful at the time it was made, and no deterrent value accrues from suppressing the evidence under these specific circumstances.

Warner, 430 S.C. at 94, 842 S.E.2d at 370. The same result should apply to the 2016 search and subsequent clarification by the officers in this case.

Appellant next contends the information should have been suppressed because law enforcement had to get corrected records from Sprint in 2019. The trial court properly concluded the information should not have been suppressed. The officers should have been able to obtain all

of their desired information from the request to Sprint in 2016. Had they gotten all of the correct information at the time, this Court's conclusion in Warner would be conclusive on the judge's ruling not to suppress. A different result should not occur because Sprint incorrectly sent information which was later corrected.

The United States Supreme Court has stressed that the "prime purpose" of the exclusionary rule "is to deter future unlawful police conduct and thereby effectuate the guarantee of the Fourth Amendment against unreasonable searches and seizures." United States v. Calandra, 414 U.S. 338, 347 (1974). Substantial costs to society result from the exclusion of evidence, and the United States Supreme Court has found that the deterrent effect of exclusion must outweigh and justify these costs:

Real deterrent value is a "necessary condition for exclusion," but it is not "a sufficient" one. The analysis must also account for the "substantial social costs" generated by the rule. Exclusion exacts a heavy toll on both the judicial system and society at large. It almost always requires courts to ignore reliable, trustworthy evidence bearing on guilt or innocence. And its bottom-line effect, in many cases, is to suppress the truth and set the criminal loose in the community without punishment. Our cases hold that society must swallow this bitter pill when necessary, but only as a "last resort." For exclusion to be appropriate, the deterrence benefits of suppression must outweigh its heavy costs.

Davis v. United States, 564 U.S. 229, 237 (2011); see also, State v. Sachs, 264 S.C. 541, 566, 216 S.E.2d 501, 514 (1975) (stating "[t]he exclusionary rule is harsh medicine," and "[e]xclusion should be applied only where [the purpose of] deterrence is clearly subserved"). The South Carolina Supreme Court recently articulated the same holding: "The purpose of the exclusionary rule is to deter law enforcement officers from committing Fourth Amendment violations. As a result, when suppression will fail to yield "appreciable deterrence," exclusion is clearly unwarranted." State v. Moore, 429 S.C. 465, 478, 839 S.E.2d 882, 889 (2020) (citations omitted).

As the United States Supreme Court has reminded: “Suppression of evidence, however, has always been our last resort, not our first impulse.” Hudson v. Michigan, 547 U.S. 586, 591 (2006).

In this case, the records were not even obtained based on a subsequent violation. They were obtained as a clarification or correction of the information properly received in 2016. Even if they were improperly obtained, there is no deterrent value in suppressing the evidence because the information was only required to be obtained as a result of an error by Sprint and not through any action of law enforcement. In this case, the “remedial objectives” of the exclusionary rule are not “efficaciously served.” See United States v. Calandra, 414 U.S. 338, 348, 94 S.Ct. 613, 38 L.Ed.2d 561 (1974). The “deterrence benefits” of excluding the evidence certainly do not “outweigh its substantial social costs.” Hudson, 547 U.S. at 591. As a result, this Court should affirm the trial court’s denial of Appellant’s motion to suppress.

**III. The trial court properly issued the Schmerber Order entitling the State to collect Appellant's DNA. Additionally, any error in the original DNA warrant was rendered harmless in light of the State obtaining the Schmerber Order which produced the same DNA from Appellant and was used to generate the DNA results tying Appellant to the scene of the crime.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in admitting DNA results because the circuit court improperly refused to suppress based on an invalid search warrant and an inappropriately obtained Schmerber Order. The Schmerber Order was properly obtained and the trial court allowed full discussion by all involved to establish the requisite probable cause. The trial court conducted a full hearing, taking testimony and allowing cross-examination, prior to issuing an order finding the requisite probable cause. As a result, the DNA results were properly admitted regardless of the validity of the initial search warrant.

**Standard of Review**

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Wharton, 381 S.C. 209, 213, 672 S.E.2d 786, 788 (2009). As such, “[appellate courts are] bound by the [circuit] court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006).

**Merits**

In this case, the sole question is whether the trial court erred in issuing a Schmerber Order for Appellant's DNA after conducting a thorough hearing on the record, allowing cross-examination, and concluding probable cause existed to take a simple buccal swab of Appellant's cheek in an effort to link him to evidence located at the scene of an execution style murder. Pursuant to Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757, 86 S.Ct. 1826, 16 L.Ed.2d 908 (1966), the circuit court may issue an order that allows the State to procure evidence from a person's body if the State can establish probable cause for the acquisition of such evidence. Under South Carolina

law, when considering whether a warrant for the acquisition of non-testimonial identification evidence should be issued, the court should consider: (1) whether probable cause exists to believe the suspect has committed the crime; (2) whether there is a clear indication relevant evidence will be found; and (3) whether the method to secure the evidence is safe and reliable. In re Snyder, 308 S.C. 192, 195, 417 S.E.2d 572, 574 (1992). Additionally, the court should take into consideration the seriousness of the crime and the importance of the evidence to the investigation. Id. Finally, “[t]he judge is required to balance the necessity for acquiring involuntary nontestimonial identification evidence against constitutional safeguards prohibiting unreasonable bodily intrusions, searches, and seizures.” Id. In State v. Register, 308 S.C. 534, 538, 419 S.E.2d 771, 773 (1992), the Supreme Court indicated: “The factors we have promulgated must remain flexible in order to properly evaluate and balance the totality of the facts and circumstances presented in each particular case.”

Appellant seems to make several arguments for why the Schmerber Order is invalid. One because it does establish the specifics of probable cause found. Probable cause is not a strenuous burden for the State to meet. As the South Carolina Supreme Court has very recently indicated: “[p]robable cause, we have often told litigants, is not a high bar . . . .” State v. Jones, 435 S.C. 138, 145, 866 S.E.2d 558, 562 (2021) (citing Kaley v. United States, 571 U.S. 320, 338, 134 S.Ct. 1090, 188 L.Ed.2d 46 (2014) (explaining further that probable cause is defined as a “fair probability” upon which “reasonable and prudent people . . . act”). Additionally, the court determining whether to issue the warrant or Schmerber Order is entitled to substantial deference from the appellate court. See State v. Pressley, 288 S.C. 128, 131, 341 S.E.2d 626, 628 (1986) (“Determination of probable cause . . . is entitled to substantial deference.”) (citing Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213 (1983)).

The Order indicates probable cause was found, and that Order is supported by the evidence presented to the Court. (Schmerber Order; R.1579). Additionally, after a full contested hearing, the trial court made a specific finding of probable cause to obtain Appellant's DNA. (June 17 T. 133; R.240). At the hearing, the State established Appellant was in the area where the victim's body was located based on cell phone records. (June 17.T.129-131; R.236-238). Additionally, a SLED forensic artist did a sketch based on information given by a taxicab driver and passenger who picked up a suspect in the area of the murder. The sketch matched the description of Appellant. (June 17T.81; R.188).

Most significantly, Investigator McFadden testified to an extensive investigation leading to Appellant as the primary suspect in the murder. He indicated the victim's phone was retrieved from the scene and had multiple addresses listed in the GPS. At the same time he was going through the phone, another investigator followed up on a video recording showing a taxicab leaving the scene of the crime. It was a taxicab out of Darlington and dropped an individual off on Donals Rail, which is in the vicinity of one of the addresses, 225 Plum Street, listed in Victim's phone. (June 17T.105-106; R.212-213). The Plum Street address belonged to one of Appellant's co-workers. A DNA sample was obtained from him, and he was excluded from possible contributing to the DNA in the condom. (June 17T.108; R.215).

Importantly, Appellant's grandmother lived at one of the addresses listed in the victim's phone. The investigators showed Appellant's grandmother the sketch by the SLED artist done based on the description given by the taxi passenger and the grandmother identified Appellant. (June 17T.107-108; R.215-215). Her response to the investigators was "that's my grandson what did he do now." (June 17T. 108; R.215). The third address listed in the victim's phone belonged to Antonio Williams—Appellant's brother. (June 17T.109; R.216).

Further, it is clear the trial court weighed the intrusion—a simple cheek swab—against the significance of comparing the unknown male DNA found in a used condom at the scene of the murder to Appellant’s DNA as a possible suspect. (June 17 T.132-133; R.239-240). Snyder and Register were both cited to the trial court, so it is clear he understood the standard under which he was operating even if he did not make a specific finding regarding the balancing of interests.<sup>1</sup>

Appellant also seems to indicate because the State previously obtained his DNA through a warrant that the Schmerber Order was unnecessary and improperly obtained. However, Appellant challenged the validity of that warrant, and continues to challenge the validity of the warrant on appeal. If the warrant was found to be invalid, the search to obtain the DNA would be invalid. The State obtained the Schmerber Order to protect the results from the possible determination at trial or on appeal that the warrant was invalid. Appellant’s DNA would not have changed from the time of the original search warrant until it was obtained pursuant to the Schmerber Order. See e.g., United States v. Mitchell, 652 F.3d 387, 413 (3d Cir. 2011) (“It is true, as Mitchell asserts, that the information contained in a DNA sample does not change over time and cannot be concealed . . . .”); U.S. v. Gross, 554 F.Supp.2d 773, 776–77 (N.D. Ohio 2008), *aff’d in part, rev’d in part on other grounds*, 662 F.3d 393 (6th Cir.2011) (“As DNA does not change over time, the Government inevitably would have matched Defendant’s DNA to the DNA on the firearm, even without a warrant for the buccal swab.”). Therefore, the information obtained was the same information and would provide the same results. In addition, as noted above, the intrusion of a

---

<sup>1</sup> Additionally, it should be noted no case specifically requires the balancing to be set forth in the Order. Instead, Register requires the balancing and, in that case, it was unclear the court had conducted the proper balancing in a case in which the evidence was not related to a suspect or victim.

buccal swab of Appellant's cheek is not significant compared to the significance of identifying the person who left DNA inside a used condom found at the scene of a murder.

Because the DNA evidence was properly obtained through the Schmerber Order, any potential issue with the conclusory nature of the search warrant or any potential issue pursuant to Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 184 (1978) are harmless. The DNA results were properly obtained through a valid means, and properly admitted by the trial court.

**IV. The trial court did not err in granting a continuance to the State when it was unlikely the trial would be completed within a week and the following week numerous State witnesses would be unavailable.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in granting the State's motion for a continuance. The trial court did not abuse its wide discretion in granting the State's motion in light of the likelihood of the trial continuing into a second week and unavailability of several witnesses. Additionally, the claim is better considered as part of Appellant's motion for a speedy trial, which is addressed in the next issue.

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